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      For those still learning to find peace in the quiet,

      this book is for you.
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      My books will always be about the power of kindness and hope and will always have a HEA, but please note that this book includes the following:

      •	References to past bullying, particularly in the form of verbal and sexual abuse

      •	References to a side character having been a sex trafficking victim

      •	On page verbal sexual assault
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        25 December 1816

      

      

      I daresay Father thought it a great joke, giving me a journal for Christmas. As if I should want such a thing.

      He said, “I think a little introspection is what’s wanted for you, Sebastian.”

      I suppose I ought not to be surprised by it, receiving a gift at Christmas that is meant to improve me. Seems inevitable really.

      John said I ought to enjoy writing in a journal as I always like hearing myself talk. The beast. Besides, he has it wrong. I don’t enjoy hearing myself talk; I enjoy hearing myself talk to other people. It is an entirely different thing! Writing in a journal is highly unsatisfying.

      Couldn’t stand John having the last word, so I cast a spell on all his kerchiefs so they left streaks of green whenever he wiped his skin. Hilarious!

      Thought it might be good to jot all this down so I remember what this journal is later. Also, must remember to pack it when I leave. Otherwise Father might find it and get angry with me. Not that it takes much these days.

      
        
        28 February 1817

      

      

      Note:

      Essay on Henry VIII due 3 Mar.

      
        
        27 March 1817

      

      

      Note:

      window 20 paces from fountain. Illusion spell poss.? Must put focus out of view of dean office.

      

      
        
        29 April 1817

      

      

      Note:

      chestnut mare too big to fit through dorm. door. Try grey mare?

      
        
        1 May 1817

      

      

      Note:

      Grey mare weakness for oats, not carrots. Ha. Parks can stop joking I’ll be sufficient bait.

      
        
        6 May 1817

      

      

      Have been sent down.

      The dean told Father about the horse in the dormitory hallway. Odious man. Not particularly enjoyable to return home “in disgrace” as John put it. Father was seething. Read me a fine scold. Quite frightening, really. I will keep forgetting just how terrifying a person he is. That is one nice thing about being at school—I am spared his disapproving looks.

      It was the usual rubbish about what a disappointment I am. How I never try to improve. He even brought up this journal.

      “Have you been attempting some amount of introspection as I asked?” he said.

      “Well,” I said. “It is hardly the done thing, you know. Writing in a journal. Least of all at school. What if one of my friends found it? I’d never live it down. I am using it, though,” I added hastily. “It’s come in handy for keeping notes and things.”

      Father frowned at this and was quiet for a long time. “I suppose quiet reflection is a skill one must develop,” he said at last. “I should like for you to start learning, Sebastian.”

      “Learning what?” I ventured.

      “Learning who you are and what sort of a person you have become,” he said. “You can start by spending time alone. From here on out, I would like you to devote some time each day to contemplation. Use the journal to track your progress, if you please. There will be no one around that you should fear finding it.”

      I did not point out that John would most certainly not quibble about reading my journal.

      He sighed. “I don’t know what I shall do with you, Sebastian. You will be confined to your room until I have come to a satisfactory decision. I do not believe I need to tell you I am very disappointed in your behavior.”

      It was all so predictable, really. Problems afoot. Writing in the journal because there’s nothing else to do.

      
        
        7 May 1817

      

      

      Realized that if I’m to track my progress—whatever that means—I may need this journal as evidence. I’m not at all sure what I’m to write in it each day but needs must, I suppose.

      I’ve been thinking about the matter and I must admit I’m very put out about Father declaring I never try to improve myself. I mean to say, what does he expect? My marks are just about as good as any of my friends’. And just because I’m the only one who gets caught playing pranks does not mean I’m the only one who does them. Besides, if I didn’t have pranks, I wouldn’t have any friends. Not that I can explain that to Father. I daresay he’d tell me that having no friends is a noble sacrifice. Or some such rot.

      
        
        8 May 1817

      

      

      I am quite bored to tears.

      Being at home now is even worse than it was before I went to Oxford. At least back then I had Gerry and Gavin around sometimes. Of course, they were usually off doing something or other—riding across the estate, swimming in the lake, or whatever else older siblings do when they’re chummy. I suppose they did invite me to join when they remembered to do so. But I do hate pity invitations.

      I am already well sick of this ridiculous journal. Doesn’t help that I feel as though my future rests in its pages. That is, even if I can’t be the person Father seems to think I should be, I’d like to have something to show for myself when all is said and done. Can’t help thinking it is a useless effort, though.

      
        
        9 May 1817

      

      

      Father sat me down in his study and told me I need to learn to be a proper gentleman. Ominous start. He listed out all manner of qualities I appear to be lacking: responsibility, gravity, good judgment. Frankly, I forget the rest of them. Said he was sending me to Bedfordshire to stay with Gavin and his husband. Pretty sure I dodged a much nastier solution. Could have been John, who was, by the way, furious—highly insulted that Father does not consider him a proper role model. So I am to go to a tiny village in the middle of nowhere in order to see how Gavin and his Mr. Kentworthy behave, apparently. Also, Father insisted I take the journal with me. Reiterated his desire for me to learn introspection.

      
        
        12 May 1817

      

      

      Have arrived.

      Tutting-on-Cress is so small as to be idyllic. Hate it already. It is abominably peaceful and quiet and everyone keeps to themselves. I’m not thrilled with the notion of rattling around in this place with no one to talk to.

      Gavin somberly told me that he was instructed to ensure I spend at least two hours every day in quiet contemplation with this journal or a book or something. God help me! As if I need more quiet in my life.

      Since I appear to be stuck with the infernal thing, I have decided to name it. It will feel a great deal less pathetic if I feel as though I am writing to someone. So, future entries shall be addressed to Bartleby. Quite like the name. Feels good in the mouth. I do so love things that feel good in the mouth.

      Lord, Gerry has arrived. I sense more lectures to come.

      
        
        13 May 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      Allow me to introduce myself. The name is Sebastian Hartford. I am twenty years old and the youngest of four siblings.

      My oldest brother, John, is beastly and married to an equally beastly woman named Veronica. They have a child who is also named John and is too small to have any personality yet but will likely take after his parents, so I am predisposed to dislike him.

      After John is Gavin, who is solemn, quiet, and mad for poetry. He is married to a Mr. Charles Kentworthy, Esquire, if you please.

      Then comes my sister, Geraldine. The only people who actually call her that are Mama and Father and other adult-types. Oh, and John, but he only does it to be irritating. Everyone else calls her Gerry. It suits her far better. She sort of inherited a spell shop from some old spellmaster she’d met and so she has settled down to work in trade. It was quite the upset, really. I believe she may be a bit of a social pariah to some of her old acquaintances. But my parents do not seem to mind.

      Gavin and Gerry are easily the nicest of my siblings. Although nowadays they lecture me as much as everyone else does. Well, Gavin does it a little less, I fancy. At any rate, they are closer in age to each other than to me. So I’ve never quite achieved that level of friendship they seem to share.

      Then there’s me, Sebastian, or Seb as I prefer to be called. I am handsome and charming, which are two things nobody in my family seems to appreciate, and is probably why I am now stuck being watched over by two of my siblings. It is a damned nuisance.

      Do you care to know what we all look like? I can’t imagine you do, but for the sake of posterity, let me describe us. Besides, it will give me something to write as I am expected to sit here for two bloody hours. So: we all look very related, with pale skin that comes over all blotchy when we’re embarrassed. Gerry blushes the most becomingly, which is hardly surprising. She is the most perfect of us all. Gavin and I have always been horrid blushers. John probably is too; that is, he would if he were ever ashamed of anything. As it is, he always thinks he is in the right, so he only blushes when he is angry. Now that I think about it, I guess he does blush often in that case. Anyway, we all have dark brown eyes, narrow noses, small mouths, and high cheekbones. We also all have red hair, to some degree. Much to my annoyance, my hair is practically orange in color, which I’m not at all fond of. Gerry’s hair is more coppery than mine, which makes her look all romantic and whatnot. John’s hair is more of an auburn color. Gavin really got the best part of the situation with dark brown hair that only looks red when he’s in the sun or standing by a candle. I used to wish my hair would get darker as I got older and change to a shade more like his. What am I saying? I still wish that would happen.

      My mama is sweet and solicitous. She’s the one who gave us all of our red hair. Her hair is like mine, only on her it looks becoming. She’s often busy taking care of baby John. Mama has strong opinions about leaving children to be brought up solely by nannies. Veronica believes children should be seen and not heard and therefore nannies are the perfect solution. So Mama is doing most of the rearing of their child. I suppose, given that, he may actually grow up to be somewhat tolerable. But Mama had the raising of John, and he is the most toffee-nosed nincompoop to ever grace the earth. I suppose we will have to wait and see.

      Father is very austere, very distant, and very, very frightening. Gavin looks most like him, really, with his dark-colored hair. That and the fact that Gavin is also rather solemn. Father never smiles either. At least not to me. I must confess I’m a little relieved he didn’t want to oversee my redemption himself. I’m not sure I’d have survived it.

      If you were a real person and not a silly journal, you might tell me a bit of your own family, Bartleby.

      
        
        14 May 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      As this is meant to be a time of contemplation, allow me to contemplate the following things: Tutting-on-Cress is small, pastoral, and quiet. The house is quite nice, all things considered. A little bigger than our own. Gerry also lives here, as does her shop assistant, a pretty fellow named Mr. Standish.

      Not sure if I’m still grateful I was sent to live with Gavin as he seems to be taking this whole situation far too seriously. Mind, Gavin is always serious about everything. But I think he’s a trifle nervous to be in charge of me. I have a notion that Gavin gets grumpy when he’s uncomfortable and he has been exceedingly grumpy since I arrived. So it’s either me or married life making him uncomfortable. Hard to imagine it’s the latter. He’s living in the lap of luxury here and his husband clearly adores him, despite his crankiness. I do think he has to shoulder the burden of running the house, so that might have something to do with it; Gavin never did strike me as the domestic type. I’m sure I should hate it. If I ever manage to snag a husband like Charles Kentworthy, I’ll be sure to hire someone to run the house for me.

      
        
        15 May 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      Allow me to indulge in a few contemplations of the inhabitants of the house.

      Gavin: Far too solemn as per usual. You’d think he’d have learned to smile a bit after marrying someone so absurdly rich and handsome. Far better than John, don’t misunderstand me. But I don’t know how Gerry and I managed to be born of the same stock as the other two. Gavin is, at least, a decent person, and less inclined to scold. He also generally keeps to himself. It is a shame he is taking his role of guardian this seriously. We used to get on so well, but he’s so easily upset these days. He was not amused when I told him about the time I made the soup tureens levitate during the evening meals at Oxford. No one caught me at it for weeks! One of my best pranks yet! But he was proper shocked about it. Not even a little bit impressed. He did always have a weakness for soup, I suppose.

      Charles Kentworthy: Honestly have no idea how Gavin nabbed him as a husband. The man is far too tall for him and outrageously handsome. He has large dark eyes that are angular and twinkly. He has black hair and tan skin. Broad shoulders and quite muscular, which I am a bit envious of. No one would ever mistake me for muscular. He has a wide, pretty mouth. Very inclined to smile. Did not, however, smile when I asked why on earth he married Gavin of all people. Very generous. Gave me liberty of the house and the stables. My outings, I have been warned, are to be restricted to the estate. Such a nuisance.

      Gerry: Perfect as always. She actually seemed pleased to see me, which was nice of her. The only person who was pleased to see me, now that I think on it. I’d be more appreciative of that if it weren’t for the fact that Gerry always manages to do everything right. I can’t help but feel as though I’m forever being compared to her and found wanting. So I tend to avoid her company. I’m sure none of us could have gotten away with going into trade and still maintain our parents’ respect. Don’t know how she does it. Wants me to see her little shop. I don’t know how I’m supposed to manage that when I’m tied to the house. I daresay someone will accompany me. It is too insufferable, really.

      Mr. Standish: Bartleby, I have saved the best for last. The one person who will likely save me from absolutely abhorring this place. Mr. Standish is, in a word, adorable. Dark curly hair, long eyelashes, fawn-colored skin, slender, shorter than me. Thick London accent. Has the most devastating smile, but barely shows it. Also, he is outrageously shy, a particular weakness of mine. Always poses such a delicious challenge, don’t you know? Everyone calls him Pip, but I’m not on good enough terms with the man for first names. Gavin has informed me that flirting with Mr. Standish is strictly forbidden, which makes no sense whatsoever. He is a single gentleman, after all. I’ve never known any single gentleman to be truly unavailable. How else would you explain my managing to get Reggie Warrow into my bed? Warrow is one of the most attractive fellows at school and I met him by vomiting onto his shoes. Hardly an auspicious start. So you see, Bartleby? No such thing as forbidden single gentlemen! Even after I’ve retched on them. I have taken Mr. Standish as a personal challenge. Why is he forbidden and how is the gorgeous thing still single? I shall keep you abreast of my findings.

      

      
        
        16 May 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      I have noticed Kentworthy addresses everyone with terms of endearment. Except me. To Gavin, it is all “darling” and “dearest.” To Gerry and Mr. Standish, it is “my dear,” and “my friend.” I am “Sebastian.” I’m not sure he approves of me. Perhaps it is my presence that is making Gavin so grumpy after all. I’m sure I don't care if Kentworthy approves of me, but I don’t particularly enjoy being singled out like that. I suppose if I really am to stay here long-term (God help me), I shall have to ingratiate myself. Hopefully he’ll be easier than Father. Not sure I’ll ever manage to get on Father’s good side. Don’t mistake me, Bartleby, I don’t give a fig for Kentworthy’s good opinion. But I’m sure it will make my stay here less horrid if he doesn’t despise me the way Father does.

      
        
        17 May 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      We had dinner guests last night. I rather expected to meet some country bumpkin friends, but was shocked that one of the guests was Viscount Finlington. Gavin really did move up in society when he married Kentworthy. God knows none of us would ever have entered Finlington’s sphere on our own. I’ve heard the man is an intimate friend of the Prince Regent. What on earth he’s doing living in Bedfordshire, I can’t imagine. It seems as though he and Kentworthy are very friendly, but I don’t think any friendship would induce me to purchase a house in a place as small and unexceptional as Tutting-on-Cress.

      Lord Finlington is portly, pale, and a little taller than, well, all of us Hartfords. We’re such an annoyingly short bunch of people. The adorable Mr. Standish is the only one shorter. It would be nice to kiss someone shorter than me, for a change. Anyway, Finlington is very good-looking and very good-humored. Also, a tremendous flirt. Greeted me with enthusiasm, saying I was the “mischievous Hartford” he’d heard so much about. Proclaimed me to be as adorably attractive as the rest of my siblings. Which is a trifle unfair. I am, clearly, the handsomest of my brothers, orange hair color notwithstanding. Nevertheless, it is nice to be complimented. Especially when one is living out a punishment. He did not have the same reticence as Kentworthy in addressing me with terms of endearment. Is this a trend in the upper echelons of society, I wonder? Or are they just like each other in that way? At any rate, very pleasant chap. But altogether too comfortable with talking about my being tied down here, which I did not appreciate.

      Our cousin Rose and her wife, Julia, were also there. I haven’t seen Rose since I was a baby, so I can’t pretend I had any strong feelings about the reunion. She is practically a stranger to me. There is no doubt that we are cousins though. She looks as though she could be our sister. Same cheekbones and narrow nose and whatnot. Rose talks in arch tones and she seems to take issue with Gerry’s single status. Nice enough person, though, I suppose. Julia has light brown skin and honey-colored hair and is a round sort of individual. She was of a very different temperament. Soft-spoken and sweet. I rather think she pitied me for being sent down. Not at all fond of pity. But I suppose it’s better than disappointment.

      Food was excellent, which was not surprising. Kentworthy employs a superb cook. Although there was far too little concern about proper seating arrangements, in my opinion. Mr. Standish was seated next to Finlington, for God’s sakes, and he’s only a shop assistant. Of course, I’m not entirely sure how seating arrangements ought to be conducted. Still, I’m a little disappointed there wasn’t more pomp. I was seated between Gerry and Gavin. I suppose they were considered the best suited to keep an eye on me. Although I can’t imagine what anyone thinks I shall accomplish at dinner. I didn’t even levitate the soup tureen. Abominable lack of trust, truly.

      All right, so I did perform a discreet Motion spell to swap out my water with Gerry’s wine because the blasted girl would insist I should not drink more than one glass. God, it felt good to do that. Just like old times at Oxford.

      She never even noticed, I’ll have you know. No one noticed. In fact, I’m quite sure no one noticed me at all for most of the meal. They were all talking animatedly to each other in the way of close friends, and often discussing people and events that were unknown to me. I fancy Julia and Finlington attempted to pull me into the conversation occasionally, but it felt too much like I was a child sitting at a table of adults. It made me wish I had at least one of my mates from Oxford there, just so I could have someone to talk to. Then again, I’m not sure I’ve ever shared that sort of enthusiastic discourse with anybody. At any rate, it was not a particularly enjoyable evening, but it was nice to have other people around for once.

      
        
        18 May 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      Kentworthy and Gavin took me to see Gerry’s shop today. It is very well kept. Everything is tidy and organized, the prices are reasonable, and everyone seems to adore her. I’ve said it once and I’ll say it again, Bartleby: my sister is annoyingly perfect. Only she can step down the social ladder with so much grace.

      While she was helping a customer, I wandered around and looked through the spells. There was one that caught my eye: a quieting spell. Never heard of anything like that before, so I was looking at it and trying to figure out what it was supposed to quiet when Mr. Standish came to stand next to me.

      “Should I be surprised at your interest in this one, Mr. Hartford?” he said in his soft voice. “Or concerned?”

      I grinned at him. “Oh, a bit of both, I think. What exactly is it supposed to quiet?”

      “Not other people, lest you think of using it for a prank.”

      “I never!”

      He raised an eyebrow. God, his eyes are gorgeous. “I believe Gerry intended to drink much more of her wine last night,” he said.

      I laughed. “I didn’t think anyone had noticed.”

      “Oh, I think everybody noticed,” he replied, reaching past me to pluck the spell bag off the hook. “They just didn’t want to give you the satisfaction. As for the spell,” he went on, opening the bag, “it includes a bit of chalk for the sigil and the circle, a scrap of wool, and a cut of reed, as you see here. The spellcaster would be expected to include their own pocket watch or timepiece.” He pulled each item out and I confess, Bartleby, I was a mite distracted by his slender fingers. “It creates a quiet atmosphere for the caster, temporary, rather like a small bubble, within the confines of the chalk circle. The larger the circle, however, the weaker the spell will be. It is intended for small spaces.”

      “Good God, why on earth would that be desirable?”

      Mr. Standish flashed one of those sweet, brief smiles of his. “A little quiet, Mr. Hartford, can be very restful sometimes.”

      “Hardly,” I said. “If you ask me, this place is already too quiet by half.”

      He said nothing as he closed up the bag and replaced it on the hook. He was very close to my space, which I always consider something of an invitation, so I leaned forward a bit and said, “Is it possible, Mr. Standish, you commented on the wine because you wish to see me satisfied?”

      I had really hoped to see him blush and stutter or something equally adorable. But damn me, the man regarded me in a manner more thoughtful than anything else.

      “You’re not very much like your siblings, are you, Mr. Hartford?” he said at last.

      “God, I hope not.”

      “A pity, that,” he said, and walked away.

      He left me alone and the rest of the visit was dull as tombs. Gerry has done a fine job of herself, of course, but I could have told you that without the visit because it’s Gerry and that’s what she does.

      One last item of note: saw a gentleman walk into the shop as we were leaving it. He was shorter than I am, with medium brown skin and dark brown eyes and he gave me the most charmingly open smile I’ve ever seen in my life. Almost tried to go back inside for an introduction to the fellow, but that seems like a silly thing to do in my sister’s shop. Besides, Standish was in there and it wouldn’t do to pursue two people at once.

      
        
        19 May 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      Have been here for over a week and it has been the longest damn week of my life. Shall have to find something to occupy my time. There is nothing to do here. I feel cooped up. I feel stuck. I am sick to death of all of the quiet. Gerry is chatty enough, but she works most days so the house is abominably still until she and Standish get home. The two of them are tired from working all day, so after dinner it’s more of the same dull silence. Don’t know why Standish said quiet is restful. I may have to ask him. Quiet makes my ears prickle. It makes me come over all twitchy. Hate it. Tired of sitting still. Going to pace around the garden, simply for a lack of anything better to do. Kentworthy keeps a good gardener. Gavin mentioned that in a letter once. They’re well-kept, but I’ve never been one for florals. So it is all wasted on me.

      
        
        20 May 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      I am coming to the realization that slow-moving seduction plots are significantly more difficult when the other person is never around. Standish is at the shop every day with Gerry. He does not even spend dinner with us every night, although I do not know where he goes. Perhaps he eats in the village. And this is every day, excepting Sundays. The shop is apparently closed on Sundays. Shall have to see if I can work out a plan. Not a Sunday shall be wasted!

      

      
        
        21 May 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      This house is a tomb. Every day, it is just me, Gavin, and Kentworthy. And they keep to themselves most of the time. They each have their own study. Gavin spends a great deal of his time in the library or the garden. So it is mostly just me rattling about the place. Not overly fond of it, I can tell you.

      On the bright side, I think I have come up with a good plan for making use of Sunday. I shall ask Standish if he would care for a walk in the gardens with me. Bit of fresh air and all that. There’s a lovely little spot around a curl of hedge that is completely hidden from the house. I won’t force myself upon him. Don’t be crass. But I can lean in and whisper something, or brush my hand against his. It’s all in the little moments, Bartleby.

      

      
        
        22 May 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      The old prank master is back.

      Went into the henhouse today and set up a long-term levitation spell in the corner. Now the nests are about a foot above the shelves. Chickens were all squawking and carrying on. Positively hilarious! I wish some of my friends could have seen it. Wrote to Parks and told him about it. Cannot wait to hear what he says.

      
        
        23 May 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      The chicken nests are already back to normal. More’s the pity. Shall have to find something else. There are far too few people here, so it is a good deal less satisfying. Nevertheless, I really must find something to do.

      
        
        24 May 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      Did the chicken roost spell again. Mostly because it really was humorous to see them all squawking about. I know it shall probably be taken down tomorrow. But as no one seems intent on talking to me about my pranks, I might as well keep on doing them.

      

      
        
        25 May 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      The first Sunday did not go as planned. In fact, it might have put paid to the plans I had for every Sunday after. I asked Standish, quite innocently I’ll have you know, if he would like to wander about the garden with me. He said he would be delighted, so I thought it would all fall pat. He asked me to wait for him outside, so I did. Next, he comes strolling out with Gavin and Gerry! Insufferable. They said they wished to wander through the gardens, too. Well, of course, I couldn’t try a damned thing. It was all pleasantries and banalities and how is the shop and what am I doing every day. What a lot of rot.

      Afterwards, Gavin cornered me and reminded me in a low voice that Mr. Standish was not to be trifled with. So I daresay I shall have to bide my time even more. Bother.

      
        
        26 May 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      I believe I have found a better prank than the chicken house, if you can believe it! I wandered up to the servants’ quarters and found a lovely little empty corner by a window, visible from the stairs but no doors around it, just empty space. Perfection! I have ideas churning. I shall have more details later.

      
        
        27 May 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      Have set up a hilarious little trap spell in that corner of the house. It is an illusion spell that, to be brutally frank, I’m not supposed to know. I’m not really supposed to know any illusion spells, considering how advanced they are and how dangerous they can be. But hang it all, half of my pranks are built on illusions. What is a chap to do except learn what he can? I set up a trap that when someone hits a particular part of the third stair from the top, there’s a little flutter of light by the window. Quite ghost-like! I am, I daresay, a genius.

      
        
        28 May 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      No word yet on how the spell is going, but a couple of the maids seem a little on edge. I believe a few of them saw it. I shall keep you informed.

      
        
        29 May 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      There is definitely alarm spreading around the house. Brilliant! All I have to do is sit somewhere centrally located and I hear all sorts of prattle about the ghost. It even came up at breakfast. I pretended all shock and surprise, I can tell you. Such a great joke! The beauty of it is no one will catch me at it. Perhaps this place is not quite so boring after all. Wrote about it to Parks. What a laugh he will get out of it! Oh, and apparently Finlington is coming to dine tonight. At least the conversation will be somewhat varied, for once.

      
        
        30 May 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      I don’t know how they did it, but they found my trap spell. How the bloody hell did they do it so fast? I hid the blasted thing. The spell itself was set up well out of the way from the stair and quite out of view. Finlington, Gerry, and Standish all went up to the servants’ quarters and poked around, apparently. Gerry announced at breakfast that they had exorcized it. Who knew my own perfect older sister could be so good at fibbing? Not a soul looked at me the whole time. It was very irritating. Not a bit of credit from a single one of them. I almost announced it had all been my invention. I declare a lecture would have been more satisfying than being completely ignored.

      Cannot decide if pining for the gorgeous Mr. Standish is making my stay here more bearable or less. I can tell you, Bartleby, I know what would make it more bearable. Having the gorgeous man in...well, anywhere. I’d take him in a closet at this point. God, it’s been simply ages. The last time was Freddie Harencourt and that was…I can’t even think when that was. April? March? Time no longer has meaning, Bartleby. That is what it means to be locked up in an absurdly boring estate with absurdly boring relations. Sadly, shall have to take the whole Standish matter slowly and gently. Like with a spooked horse. Especially when I’ve been warned off the gentleman. Twice.

      Just occurred to me Gavin is meant to check on my progress on this whole contemplation game. What a nuisance that is. I hope he doesn’t actually intend to read my journal. Perhaps I’d better ask. Might be better to tear out incriminating pages and be scolded for missing dates than to be scolded for flagrantly ignoring Gavin’s warnings.

      

      Went and asked about it. Gavin gave me the most baffled look I have ever seen on his face.

      “Why the devil would I want to actually read the blasted thing?” he asked.

      I told him I was worried he’d be sending word back to Father.

      Gavin frowned in his usual way and said, “Seb, a journal is for personal thoughts. I would never betray your privacy in such a way. But this does give me a great deal of concern for what your personal thoughts actually are.”

      This line of thought was a bit alarming, so I said, “I don’t see why he’s so bent on having me use a journal in the first place.”

      He folded his hands on his desk and said, “Well, as you know, he is keen to see you mature a bit.”

      “And a journal is supposed to do that, is it?” I said, a little irritably.

      “Oh, I don’t think anyone expects a journal to provide any sort of magical change in you. But if you ask me…” He gave me a questioning look and I nodded for him to proceed. “If you ask me, Father is worried that you are too in your own head. It’s a family trait, you know. I have a tendency to withdraw, and I’m sure John does too. So it isn’t the least bit surprising that you have shown a similar inclination. I know when I’ve written letters, it helps me to write out what I’m thinking. It allows me to analyze my thoughts a bit more, come to understand myself. If I had a guess, I’d say he wants you to analyze your thoughts and understand yourself in much the same way. I’m sure he doesn’t much care how you do it, but since you haven’t been talking to any of us, the journal was the best solution he could come up with.”

      “I talk to you,” I protested. “I talk to everybody.”

      He raised an eyebrow. “Chatter is not the same as confiding, Seb, and you know it. Do you have anyone to confide to?”

      I kicked at the rug a bit. “Not much to confide.”

      He sighed. “Then I daresay you’re stuck with his instructions. As to your concerns about my reading it, don’t worry about that. He has asked that I ensure you’re spending some quiet time alone and that I encourage you to use the journal. I have promised to do so but beyond a quick leaf through, I assure you, I will read nothing.”

      I can tell you, Bartleby, I was very relieved. Do you know, I really am terribly grateful to have been sent here instead of being put under the watchful eye of John and Veronica. For you know as well as I do (well, perhaps not since you are not sentient), that John would have no such scruples.

      

      
        
        31 May 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      Have discovered a rather handsome footman among the staff. A bit of a pug nose, I fancy. But the Standish situation will be a very slow process. So I shall take a pug-nosed footman in the meantime. Must determine his schedule and duties first.

      
        
        1 June 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      Had a lark keeping an eye out for the footman. I think he’s on to me, but I don’t think he seems to mind it. He’s courteous and solicitous, and not in the cold way of servants who don’t approve of you. I might get some satisfaction as soon as tomorrow.

      
        
        2 June 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      What started out as a very promising afternoon has turned out to be not so promising. In fact, it was a bit of a disaster. Found the footman and was in the process of encouraging the man into a closet for a quick nip, as it were, when the door was flung open and Kentworthy was staring down at me in a most disapproving manner. The footman was very embarrassed and I daresay Kentworthy was a damn sight more civil to him than he was to me. He assured the footman he was not in any trouble and sent the man scurrying off to his duties. Then he gave me a grim look and asked if I might join him in his study. Of course I jolly well couldn’t say no.

      I’m quite sure Gavin has no interest in having children and it’s almost a shame, really, because Kentworthy has the makings of a very firm father. He reminded me of my own with the disapproving look he gave me. I’m an expert on disapproving looks at this point. Would you believe, Bartleby, that he had me sit down in a chair while he leaned up against the desk? As if the blasted man should need any more height than he already has. Terribly uncalled for.

      “I do not know what you have been taught at Oxford, Sebastian,” he said. “But while you are in my house, you will not harass the servants.”

      “Harassment was not exactly what I had in mind,” I joked, but then wished I hadn’t; he did not look amused. “Well, he didn’t seem bothered by the idea,” I protested.

      “He is not at liberty to be honest,” Kentworthy said. “It is inappropriate to conduct such things with servants. Has no one ever told you this?”

      “I would never have taken you for a classist,” I retorted.

      “Far from it,” he said. “It is not inappropriate because they are of a lower class than you. It is inappropriate because you are a guest in the home in which they are working. Many would not feel comfortable refusing advances, even if they did not want them.”

      “I’ll have you know I’ve never forced myself on anyone. I resent the implication.”

      “I’m very glad to hear it,” he replied in a mild tone that sounded anything but very glad.

      I sighed and leaned my head back to look at the ceiling. “God’s teeth. There’s nothing to do here. How can you people live like this? What do you do all day?”

      Bartleby, I wish I hadn’t said anything. Because Kentworthy then looked amused, which I believe may be a more frightening expression than his disapproval.

      “Well, if you’re bored, Sebastian, then I daresay we can find something for you to do.”

      Damn my blasted ruddy mouth.

      

      
        
        3 June 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      Kentworthy made me wait until this morning to discuss the matter. I don’t know that I’ve ever been so nervous. Not even when the dean learned I was the one who had stolen the gargoyle off the top of the library. With the dean, I had an idea of what my punishments might be. And I could usually charm him down from anything too extreme. But Kentworthy is a mysterious entity and I haven’t figured him out yet. Curses that he should take it into his head to cure me of my boredom before I’ve had a chance to learn his weak spots.

      He brought it up at breakfast—in front of everyone, I’ll have you know—Well, everyone being Gavin, Gerry, and Standish. I strolled in last and they greeted me cheerfully, which was my first ominous hint.

      No sooner had I filled up my plate and sat down, Kentworthy said, “I’ve been giving the matter a great deal of thought, Sebastian. I fear I have neglected my duties as host since you arrived. I did not consider proper entertainment for you.”

      “You really needn’t trouble yourself,” I said hastily.

      He smiled. “Oh, but I do. It would appear that you are lacking in things to do, given your recent pranks and attempted seductions.”

      It was the first time anyone has mentioned my pranks, other than Standish saying something in the shop. It was a good deal less satisfying than I would have liked. It was so casually mentioned, as if it were unimportant, a mere detail, a practically forgotten incident. I’ll have you know I worked hard on those! Well, I worked hard on the ghost spell. That one took planning. The chicken coop was just for a laugh.

      Kentworthy continued, “So we have put our heads together and compiled a list.”

      I groaned.

      His smile widened. Curse him. He picked up a paper and I could see a schedule had been written on it. “Every morning, your valet shall wake you up early so you might go riding before breakfast.”

      “What?”

      “I shall accompany you,” he said.

      This did not make me feel better, Bartleby.

      “I might join as well,” Gavin put in. “If I wake up early enough.”

      This made me feel a little better.

      “Then,” Kentworthy went on, “we shall come inside for breakfast. After which, you shall have the morning for studies. After all, you would normally be in school at this time of year and we do not want your education to be neglected. Gerry, Gavin, and I are working on a curriculum for you to follow for the duration of your stay. You shall study in the library until lunch. I will take responsibility for seeing your work is done and we shall divide your work amongst the three of us to see it is done properly. After lunch, you shall have a couple of hours of leisure time. I have drawn up a list of activities that might interest you for that period. Please note: footmen are not on the list.”

      I cringed and sank in my chair.

      “Then, you will be expected to join Gavin and myself for tea in the sitting room, along with some etiquette lessons.”

      “You must be joking.”

      “I assure you I am not.”

      I groaned again.

      “After tea, you shall have your customary two hours of time for contemplation, per your father’s request. Then, I should like you to spend more time outside, weather permitting. You may go riding, walk in the garden, walk anywhere in the estate you like. After that, you will join the rest of us for dinner and after-dinner-socialization.” He put the paper aside. “Any questions?”

      “Yes,” I said. “Why are you punishing me like this? I promise I won’t do…what I was going to do.”

      “Well,” he said. “I admit I had forgotten you were supposed to be in school at this time. It did not occur to me until you mentioned your boredom—”

      “Damn it—”

      “—we discovered we ought to rectify it.” He paused. “Currently, I have planned for you to study alone, but if you would prefer to have a tutor—”

      “Lord, no. Please.”

      “Very well. But know that I am trusting you to study as you ought. If you shirk your studies, I shall consider that a breach of trust and hire a tutor for you. Is that clear?”

      Nobody saved me from this indignity. So of course I had no choice in the matter.

      Gavin walked me to the library after breakfast to explain what they had set up for me. When I sat down, he pulled a chair out and sat next to me.

      “Seb,” he said in a low voice. “What happened when you went to Oxford?”

      “What are you talking about?”

      He sighed. “You were never like this before you went there. Yes, you were an idiot occasionally, but I’ve never known you to be cruel.”

      “Cruel?”

      He gave me a steady look. “The horse in the dormitory hall? Do you know they had to sedate the poor thing to get it out safely? And the soup tureens? Do you have any idea how much those servants were likely punished before they figured out it was you?”

      I shifted in my chair. “God’s teeth, Gavin. I didn’t intend for anything like that.”

      “And then you come here and do the same nonsense. I had to talk down three maids from quitting out of fright. And the chickens are still traumatized from their nests being moved. It is one thing to play a joke on someone who can retaliate or defend themselves. But servants and animals can do no such thing. It is shockingly bad form.”

      “Just trying for a laugh,” I said. I was annoyed by how plaintive I sounded.

      “I rather suspect there’s more to it than that. I hope you’ll tell me when you’re ready.”

      This whole conversation made me very uncomfortable. Cruelty was never my object, Bartleby, I hope you know that. I hated to have Gavin thinking of me as some sort of bully. I decided a change of subject was in order.

      “Would you tell your husband to stop haranguing me? The only good thing about coming here was I didn’t have to be in school.”

      He tilted his head. “Really? The only good thing?”

      “Well, and I’m glad I wasn’t made to live with John,” I admitted.

      “Praise indeed,” he remarked drily. “I am glad as well. He would have made the situation worse, I daresay. Not to mention the fact that I do actually enjoy your company, when you aren’t being a callous sod.” He stood to go. “And no,” he said, turning to look at me. “I will not tell Charles any such thing. Frankly, I’m glad he’s here to help me. I’m worried about you, Seb. I don’t mind telling you.”

      Which, of course, put me in an even fouler mood, I don’t mind telling you, Bartleby.

      
        
        4 June 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      I already hate getting up early and I’ve only done it once now. Kentworthy kept up a punishing pace and I was extremely out of sorts when we finally reached the house again. What have I done to deserve such treatment? Never mind. Don’t tell me.

      Not at all inclined to study. But I shudder to think what sort of tutor Kentworthy would saddle me to. So, must press on. I take back all of my complaints about being bored. I would to God I was bored now.

      The curriculum that was seen fit to give me is unique to everyone’s tastes. It is positively absurd. Gerry is having me study Magical Theory. I’m to write reports on Norton and Pechard and Sandellini and all their tiresome theories and findings. She is even making me memorize the entire bloody list of common Constitutional Properties. Why the devil should I need to know all of them? Besides, there’s almost always a written-out version of the spell. It is a damned nuisance. Who would have thought my sister would be so hard-hearted?

      Gavin is in charge of literature, God help me, so there’s simply loads of poetry and essays and all sorts of nonsense. In class, I could just shirk out of such assignments, but I can’t very well do it when Gavin has no other students to distract him.

      Kentworthy has taken over history, which is bad enough, but he has also gotten it into his head that I should learn about a whole mess of things: how to manage finances, property laws, marriage laws, and the British government. It is all exceedingly dull and, quite frankly, I don’t understand most of it. No one at Oxford ever had to study such matters. I imagine parents are expected to teach their firstborns. I expect Father taught John. I’m the youngest child, so why the devil do I have to learn such rot?

      I have come to the dreadful conclusion, Bartleby, that I quite despise Mr. Charles Kentworthy. And I don’t mind saying it. Although I am glad that Gavin isn’t really reading these, for I wouldn’t want him to know.

      Far too tired to write out anything more. I’m going to spend the rest of my contemplation time reading instead.

      
        
        5 June 1817,

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      Not sure when Gerry expects me to fit all of this in. I’ll be memorizing this ridiculous list until Christmas. It’s five pages long! On top of that, I have to read the poetry and literature that Gavin picked out for me and write an essay about them, and write about the fall of the Roman Empire for Kentworthy, not to mention his governmental nonsense. It is, quite simply, too much. I hate them all.

      
        
        6 June 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      Hate to admit it, but learning Magical Theory is actually rather interesting. I am finally realizing why tarragon never worked so well in my healing tinctures. Turns out I should have used mint instead. More appropriate Constitutional Property when it comes to healing apparently. Still angry about this list though.

      Have completed my essay for Gavin, finally. I’m sure it’s terrible, but I should like to see him try for a better essay.

      Not quite sure what to do as one of the passages Kentworthy assigned me is utterly confusing. I have no idea what I’m supposed to be getting from it. It’s incredibly long and all about marriage laws and I can’t make sense of any of it. He has told me he wishes for me to write a report on the damn subject. Under normal circumstances, I’d find Adelaide Forrester or some other brainy classmate to explain it or even write it for me. But I have no one to explain it here, and I have no desire whatsoever to ask Kenworthy. He doesn’t deserve the satisfaction. So I made something up when I wrote the report. I daresay I’ll get some sort of lecture about it. But he can’t exactly fail me in a nonexistent class, after all. Can he?

      My hand is cramping from writing too much. I daresay I didn’t do this amount of work at Oxford. My friends don’t know how good they have it.

      
        
        7 June 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      The wrathful god does show mercy at times, it seems. I have been given a day off from my studies. Kentworthy told me, himself, that I shall not be expected to study on Saturdays. Although he does seem intent on me continuing my studies on Sundays, which seems a trifle atheistic of him. I’d complain except then I’d probably be made to sit in church and I’m not quite sure that’s an agreeable alternative.

      I’m still expected to have my time of contemplation as usual, as that is Father’s particular request. But Kentworthy didn’t even make me get up early to go riding this morning. I woke up anyway because I’m getting accustomed to it, confound the man. I saw him and Gavin from my bedroom window, riding off across the estate. I went back to bed, simply because I had the option.

      
        
        8 June 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      I have not spoken to you of the travesty that is etiquette lessons, have I?

      Well, allow me to do so now.

      Despite the fact that I have already learned a great deal of this sort of thing already, I apparently require a review of the subject. Etiquette lessons are a dreadful bore and I wish them to perdition. More aptly, I wish Kentworthy to perdition, for I’m sure they’re all his idea.

      Every afternoon, we convene in the sitting room. I am served tea and must answer trivial questions about my day and what I’m reading or whatnot. I am also expected to ask trivial questions. Gavin and Kentworthy (but, really, Bartleby, it is mostly Kentworthy) will make little comments about my posture or suggest that a particular topic might not be suitable for a nextborn like myself, but might be appropriate after I’m married. That sort of nonsense. So very tiresome.

      Today, Gerry and Standish joined us as it is their day off from the shop. I was a little surprised that Standish joined. I wouldn’t have expected him to be interested in witnessing my personal torture. But he was there, politely accepting his tea from Gerry. He drinks his tea black, Bartleby, which strikes me as a rather odd thing to do. He even joined the conversation a little. Asked me what Oxford is like. I gave him an enthusiastic description of the place, told him about the food and the campus and the fun we all have. He acted as though he didn’t know anything about university, which intrigued me a little. Although I suppose a shop assistant doesn’t need a university education.

      At any rate, Standish made the tea less abhorrent. Gerry added some pleasant conversation, but she also had critiques on the way I held my cup and sat in my chair. I’m only five years her junior, but you’d think I was ten with the way she bosses me about. Then again, she talks to Gavin in exactly the same tone. I suppose that’s just how she is to everybody.

      
        
        9 June 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      Kentworthy read over my report on British marriage laws and handed it back to me with a grim expression and the words, “Do it over, if you please.”

      I do not please. I do not please at all. Curse the man. I put it off and did everything else first and then I had simply no time to do the report over. He shall have to wait. Particularly since I still have no idea what he expects me to write.

      
        
        10 June 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      Once again, did not have time to do the report over. Not sure how long I shall be able to keep this up before Kentworthy reads me a lecture. But, frankly, I don’t care. I’m working far more on my studies here than I ever did at Oxford and that’s the truth.

      I quite detest the man.

      
        
        11 June 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      Kentworthy noticed and adjusted my workload so that I might have time to do the report over today. Let me amend that: so that I will have time to do the report today. He made it quite clear that it was to be a priority.

      Well, I sat with the blasted book for an hour, trying to figure out what he wanted me to understand. I finally gave up and decided to find Gavin and have him explain it to me. Only I couldn’t find him. I looked everywhere. Finally ran into Kentworthy as he was going into his study and asked where Gavin was. He informed me that Gavin had gone out for a walk.

      I asked when he might be expected to return and Kentworthy looked at me in that insufferably amused way of his, glanced at the book in my hand, and said, “I’m not at all sure. Can I be of assistance?”

      I told him I would wait for Gavin and turned to return to the library.

      “Sebastian.”

      I sighed and turned back around to him.

      “Are you having difficulties with that report?”

      I glowered at him and said nothing.

      “Because, if you are,” he continued. “You know you need only ask. I’d be happy to provide any explanations for you.”

      “I’d prefer to wait for Gavin,” I said.

      “Very well. I’ll tell him you were looking for him.”

      “Thank you.”

      “And Sebastian? I expect that report today. If it is not completed during your usual study period, you may use some of your personal leisure time for the task.”

      Damn the man. I stomped back to the library and worked through the rest of my assignments until Gavin found me.

      “Charles said you were looking for me?”

      “Finally,” I said. “Here.” I pulled out the book in question. “He wants me to write a report on marriage law and I have no idea what he wants me to explain. I tried writing it already and he is making me do it over.”

      Gavin did not take the book or the paper. “Why the blazes did you not ask him?”

      I huffed. “And give him the satisfaction? No, thank you. The man hates me enough. I don’t need to give him more ammunition.”

      “Don’t be ridiculous. He doesn’t hate you.”

      “Then I suppose he’s putting me through all of this out of a deep fondness?”

      “Well, yes,” Gavin replied simply. “He believes—we all believe you’re better than this,” he waved his hand vaguely at me, “whatever phase you seem to be going through. We’re trying to help you. Frankly,” he added, picking up the book at last and glancing over the page, “I don’t understand why these things aren’t taught at school. They’re terribly important.” He put the book back down and gave me a steady look. “Talk to him.” And then he left.

      I procrastinated the conversation until after lunch and I was in my leisure time. It was not a pleasant experience, going cap in hand to a man who is essentially my jailer. I suppose Gavin can get some of the blame on that part, but Kentworthy is the one who seems determined to make me miserable here. I found him in his study. The door was wide open, as if he was waiting for me. Although I think his door is often open. Frankly, I try to avoid his study so I can’t say that I’ve noticed one way or the other.

      “Yes, Sebastian?” he said when I came in.

      “I don’t know what it is you want from me,” I said.

      He frowned a little, confused.

      “What am I to write?”

      “Was the assignment not clear enough?”

      I sighed. “The assignment was clear, but this damned book is far too confusing. Nothing is written plainly. I don’t understand any of it.”

      He gave a small smile. “I’d have to agree with you. Legal writing is always outrageously fustian.”

      “Then why do you make me suffer through it?” I said. “Why do you insist on punishing me this way?”

      He leaned back in his chair. “Well, unless I’m much mistaken, you intend to be married someday.”

      “Well, yes, eventually.”

      “So, it will be in your best interest to understand marriage laws. It can be quite confusing. I would hate for you to be married and find yourself unprepared for the responsibilities expected of you.”

      “Is that what happened to you?” I ventured.

      He chuckled. “No, not at all. I was very aware of what to expect. But Gavin was not entirely aware of what was expected of him until we were already engaged. I would like to see you more prepared. If you are not careful, you may find yourself in a predicament if you wed yourself to someone who takes advantage of your ignorance. Although,” he added, “I would certainly do my best to prevent such a thing.”

      “Is that liable to happen?”

      “It happens to many people,” he said. “For the most part, if a nextborn marries a firstborn, the expectations are rather straightforward. But if you were to marry another nextborn, it can be decidedly confusing. It would be to your benefit to know exactly what you’re getting into regardless of the birth order of the gentleman you marry. You may need to discuss with him the division of responsibilities and expectations. Decide whose name shall be taken. The laws can be very complex and messy. That is why I assigned that essay to you.”

      I looked at the book in my hands. “Oh.”

      “Now,” he continued. “If you would like my assistance, I would be happy to supply it. Do you need my help, Sebastian?”

      Curse the man for making me say it.

      “Yes. I’m afraid I do.”

      “Very good. I shall be delighted to help you. I will join you in the library tomorrow after breakfast to talk you through the passages in question. You may take the rest of your leisure time as you will.”

      That did surprise me. “Oh,” I said. “Er. Thank you.”

      He smiled. “You’re quite welcome. I shall see you at tea. Unless, of course, there is anything else you wish to discuss?”

      I told him there wasn’t and walked out.

      
        
        12 June 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      Today, Kentworthy sat down next to me in the library and explained marriage laws. It is odiously complicated but also, I do so hate to say it, quite fascinating. When a firstborn and a nextborn marry, you see, the firstborn is responsible for the finances and any property they might own. The nextborn is in charge of running the household, hiring and managing the household staff, hosting whenever there is company, that sort of thing.

      But if two nextborns marry, it all gets rather muddled. Who controls the finances or finds an occupation? Who takes precedence? There’s even an added step to the whole marriage process where one person signs a form that they shall be assuming those responsibilities. Kentworthy explained that this means fortune hunters will try to coerce spouses into signing over all of their fortune to them. It is dreadful. I have no property, of course, so that shan’t be a problem for me. The person who has control of property is also the one in charge of finances and securing a house and that sort of thing. There is a division of labors or responsibilities and those have to be ironed out in advance, as do details like who takes the other’s name. In Gavin’s case, since he married a firstborn, he took Kentworthy’s name and, according to the law, he’s now Kentworthy’s dependent. Kentworthy is sort of the head of the house, as it were.

      It’s all very particular and strange. I don’t see why it should be so very complicated. Kentworthy went on to say that this is all strictly in terms of legality and property and has nothing to do with the actual relationship dynamic. He advised that when I do get married, I take into account my own temperament, personality, strengths, and interests, as well as that of my husband. And, of course, consider such things as inheritance and property and all that.

      I had dreaded the conversation all night and all morning. But Kentworthy was, surprisingly, not smug like I feared he’d be. He was very patient and explained everything very clearly. He even helped me to write the essay, which seemed like a strange thing to do since he would have to read it later. Well, he got me started on it; I wrote the rest of it myself.  I’m annoyed that I cannot detest him as much as I wish to now. For I was rather glad to learn it all. I have much to think about. What a bother it is to be wrong.

      

      
        
        13 June 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      Who knew all it took for Kentworthy to not hate me was for me to ask him for help? The man is a complete mystery to me. Nothing has changed exactly, but I fancy he is not so cold in his manner of talking to me. I wonder if the mood is only temporary and he shall remember he dislikes me later.

      
        
        14 June 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      Typically during the evenings I walk to the lake and back. Kentworthy wants me to do something outside before dinner, you may recall. Anyway, last night I walked around the house before dinner instead and strode past the chicken coop. It was my first time passing the chicken coop since the last time I pranked it. And do you know, Bartleby, I was struck with guilt for the whole thing. I have never felt guilty for a prank before. I’ve been thinking about it all day and about how the servants here probably all hate me for the whole ghost thing.

      I almost brought it up to Kentworthy, but didn’t quite have the nerve.

      I suppose I may owe him an apology for frightening his servants. And perhaps Gavin as well. Curses.

      
        
        15 June 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      Worked up the nerve to apologize to Gavin. He was easier. He came into the library while I was working on memorizing Gerry’s list—yes, I’m still working through the blasted thing—and went to grab a book from the shelves. I cleared my throat to get his attention, for I had myself all worked up.

      He turned and looked at me. “Something the matter?”

      I stared down at my pen as I rolled it around in my hand. “I…er…I’m sorry about the pranks earlier. The coop and the ghost trap,” I added, glancing up at him, lest he think I had done more. “I didn’t intend to be cruel.”

      “Oh,” Gavin said. “Thank you. I’m glad to hear it.” He looked at the book in his hand for a moment and then said, “How did you get into all those pranks, anyway?”

      I shrugged. “Something to do, I suppose.”

      He hummed in a noncommittal way that suggested it was not the answer he was hoping for, but he didn’t push. That is one thing I like about Gavin. He isn’t one to push.

      I suppose I ought to say the same thing to Kentworthy tomorrow. After all, it is his house and everything.

      
        
        16 June 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      I worked up the nerve to apologize to Kentworthy. I did it on our ride this morning. Typically, we don’t talk much on our rides. It’s a quick canter around the estate. But I thought it was the best time to talk to him. If he spurned the apology, I’d have the whole ride back to get over it. When we got to the glen where we usually turn left and start making our way back, I reined in and looked across at the morning mist, hoping he’d slow down too.

      Fortunately, he did, and guided his horse back to where I was.

      “Everything all right?” he asked.

      I felt nervous to look him in the face while I said it, just as when I talked to Gavin, so I kept my eyes ahead on the mist and said, “I’m afraid I owe you an apology.”

      “Oh?” he said.

      I sighed. “I’m sorry about the whole mess with the chicken coop and the ghost trap.”

      “Ah,” he said.

      “You see, I never really considered it from their point of view. The chickens, I mean. And the servants. I didn’t mean to be cruel. I was just...”

      I glanced at him and he was looking at me with an unreadable expression.

      “I don’t know,” I said. “I guess I’ve just made a habit of doing it and I never stopped to think. I’m truly not a cruel person, or a bully or anything, whatever you may think.”

      “I don’t think of you as cruel, Sebastian.”

      “I suppose your servants do,” I said. “I daresay they all quite despise me.”

      “No, dear boy,” he said. “They don’t. They weren’t pleased, of course, when it was explained to them. But Gavin assured them that we would keep you from doing anything too terrible in the future.”

      I was so startled by the term of endearment that I stared at him, dumbfounded.

      He raised his eyebrows.

      “I…er…rather thought you despised me, too,” I said.

      “Of course I don’t,” he said. “I believe you still have a great deal to learn. But I never consider anyone a lost cause, least of all someone related to Gavin.”

      “Then you haven’t met John, I suppose.”

      He chuckled. “I actually have.”

      “You mean you don’t think he’s a lost cause?”

      He laughed louder and some birds flew up in alarm. “I think John means well but is clumsy about it.”

      I didn’t quite agree with that, but I didn’t say anything.

      We sat in silence for a few moments while I digested the fact that my brother-in-law did not entirely hate me and was realizing I didn’t entirely hate him.

      “Now, the chickens,” he said. “They might not be so fond of you now. Dashed difficult to talk sense to, chickens, you know.”

      I laughed. “Well, I suppose I can steer clear of the coop then.”

      “Thank you, darling. Very wise. Are you ready to go back?”

      I nodded and we returned home.

      And now I’m digesting the fact that Kentworthy made a joke about chickens.

      
        
        17 June 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      At breakfast, Gerry asked me how I was getting on with the list of Constitutional Properties and I explained to her that it was far too long and damn near impossible to memorize. She told me not to be a twit and that if I really needed help, all I had to do was ask. She has even, apparently, taken a leaf out of Kentworthy’s book and told me that I must have the list memorized by Friday. Not sure I shall have any time for leisure at all now. Drat the girl.

      Stole a glance at Kentworthy who was, dash it all, looking at me with amusement. I refuse to ask for help two weeks in a row, Bartleby. Absolutely refuse.

      
        
        18 June 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      Finlington came over for dinner last night. Asked me how I was getting on with my studies and everything. I realized partway through dinner that the viscount is quite an eligible bachelor. And from the way he flirts, it’s easy to guess his persuasion. Ordinarily, I’d use that to my advantage. But he’s considerably older than I am, about Kentworthy’s age. It’s funny because when Gavin first met Kentworthy, I had it in my head that I might be able to fall in love with him. But he’s at least ten years older than I am. That seems a bit much, don’t you think? I’m sure I should much prefer someone who sees me as his equal, rather than a child or something. As much as Finlington does flirt, I cannot help but think he sees me as a schoolboy, or at best, Gavin’s baby brother. I’m well aware that I am, but I don’t think that’s a good dynamic for a relationship.

      I’m blaming this entire entry on Kentworthy’s blasted marriage laws lesson. I declare I’ve never thought this carefully about marriage before. Not sure I enjoy it.

      
        
        19 June 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      I don’t know how I’m going to get Gerry’s list down by memory by tomorrow. I suppose I shall have to go to her for help. That seems to be the modus operandi lately (You see, Bartleby? I did learn things in Oxford). What a bother it all is.

      
        
        20 June 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      Asked Gerry for help with the list and she looked so absurdly pleased by it. Why does everyone enjoy being asked for help? So very bizarre. She extended the deadline for the assignment and evenings after dinner will be spent working through the list together. I’m not sure I am pleased with this solution, but at least I can move on from this blasted assignment at last.

      
        
        21 June 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      First in-person lesson with Gerry went fairly well. She mentioned that memorizing the list is something I ought to have been told to do ages ago and she seemed rather unimpressed with my education at Oxford. Frankly, Bartleby, it is a little unsettling that I am learning more living with my brother in the country than I learned at university. I imagine it is because I am the only student here.

      Received a letter from Father today. He told me that Gavin has assured him I am showing some marked improvement. However, he is using this as an argument for my staying here indefinitely. It is a bit of a wrench, for it seems as though I won’t go back to Oxford at all now. But I’m not sure I hate it here quite as much as I did before. Except that it’s a little isolating.

      Speaking of which, this letter is the first one I have received since arriving. Can you countenance it, Bartleby? I should think my friends would have learned of my change of address by now. Parks definitely has my new direction as I have sent him two letters. Father would at least forward the letters on if they were sent home. At least I’d hope he would. I rather hate to ask Gavin about it because if there are no letters to forward, he will look at me with pity. About the only thing worse than a stern older brother is a sympathetic one.

      
        
        22 June 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      Aunt Lily and Uncle Gregory came to tea today. Aunt Lily fusses just as much as Mama does. Quite glad I’m living here and not there. At one point, Charles critiqued my posture, which Aunt Lily took as permission to also interject with her opinion. They just returned from taking one of my cousins to London for the Season, so she was full of talk about the latest fashions and seemed to feel she was an expert on society in general. Uncle Gregory was pleasant enough, although his resemblance to Father is uncanny and, frankly, unnerving. I’m sure I shouldn’t be surprised since he is his younger brother. Still, it was strange because he looks and sounds a great deal like Father, but he’s softer in tone and more inclined to smile and make jokes about things. Aunt Lily told me to be sure I come and visit now that they were at home. I must confess, I was pleased for once that I am restricted to Kentworthy’s property. Thank heavens I managed to dodge that obligation. I have no desire to have another set of adults tell me what I’m doing wrong, particularly when one of them looks like my father.

      Decided to swallow some of my pride and wrote a few letters today. I feel that it is very low of my friends to make me write to them first when I am the one who was sent away. Nevertheless, here we are. Since it seems unlikely that I shall be returning, at least anytime soon, I suppose I had better take some responsibility in maintaining the friendships I made at Oxford. Wrote to Warrow and Forrester,  sent another letter to Parks, and told them all where they might find me should they care to write. Gave each an account of how I’m getting on and said that I’m unlikely to return. Asked how things are going with them and if there is any gossip I’ve missed since I’ve been away.

      God, my hand is cramping something awful now.

      
        
        23 June 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      Working through the list with Gerry still. You know, she’s actually very smart. She had some marvelous suggestions for memorizing things. We’re clipping along at a decent pace now. When I asked her why memorizing the list was so frightfully important, she said that strong magical abilities seem to run in our family and it would be a good idea for me to get the best grounding possible. It is, honestly, the closest thing I’ve had to a compliment in quite some time. So then I didn’t mind the prospect as much.

      I was not best pleased when she turned the conversation to a more personal one.

      “Are you missing your friends?” she asked.

      “Of course,” I said, shrugging. “I wrote them all letters yesterday.”

      “Yes, I saw them on the stack to go out.”

      Then she looked so blasted contemplative that I had to ask what she was thinking.

      “Well,” she said at last. “I’m sorry you miss them, but I can’t help but be glad you’re not around people who talk to you the way your friends and lovers do.”

      I sighed. Gerry has said this sort of thing every time I wrote to her about my friends or my time at Oxford. “I don’t know how many times I have to tell you that this is how friends talk. My friends are always teasing me. It’s perfectly normal. And calling Warrow my lover makes the whole thing sound decidedly more serious than it really was. It was all a lark, you know.”

      She gave me a dubious look.

      “Oh, do stop looking at me that way. You only think I’m wrong because you always have to be perfect about everything.”

      “I rather think you should talk to Gavin then,” she said primly. “Or Charles. I’m sure they would agree with my assessment.”

      “Very well,” I said. “I will. Just to prove to you that I’m right.”

      I might bring it up to Gavin if I happen to think of it.

      
        
        24 June 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      By my reckoning, my letters should arrive at Oxford either today or tomorrow. Which means that I should receive letters within the next, oh, four to five days. I’m strangely eager about it. I daresay I didn’t realize I missed everyone quite so much. I’m sure there will be a lot of teasing about my being stuck in the country. But perhaps one or two of them could be persuaded to visit. I’m sure Kentworthy would approve of it. That is, I’d hope he would.

      Finlington came to dinner again last night. He mentioned putting in an advertisement for an assistant. Said he’s been at a loss since someone named Nell left his employ last year.

      Gerry kept giving me long, considering looks when we worked on the list afterward. I finally asked her what had her thinking so hard. But she pretended not to know what I was talking about.

      
        
        25 June 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      Bumped into Standish when I was wandering through the gardens before dinner last night. Do you know I’d almost forgotten I planned to seduce him? Remembered as soon as I saw him because he was breathtaking in the evening light. He joined me in my stroll and asked how my studies were getting along. He commiserated with me on Magical Theory and said he finds theory easier to understand when he knows the practical side of it first.

      He asked me if I was enjoying my stay and, frankly, I didn’t know what to tell him. Am I enjoying myself now? It is surprisingly hard to say. I’m certainly not having as much fun as I had at Oxford. I feel as though I’m left alone a lot of the time, which is trying since I am not used to it. And it smarts a bit to be doing so much out of punishment.

      I don’t know how to explain it, but I can tell Gavin and Kentworthy and Gerry are pleased with whatever progress or whatnot they are seeing in me. I can’t tell that I’m changing so very much, but there are fewer tense looks when I’m in the room than there were when I first arrived.

      I was so wrapped up in where my thoughts went with his question that I completely forgot to try to whisper something sweet in his ear.

      I was thinking about that all last night when I went to bed. I’m quite sure Gavin and Kentworthy would be very displeased if I did try to seduce him, and I’m not sure I want that. It has been surprisingly pleasant to not be disapproved of for once.

      
        
        26 June 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      Have finally completed Gerry’s list and we’re moving on to theories and diagrams. I have learned these things in school, but no one has made me actually take notes and learn it all properly. I feel as though I am learning it for the first time all over again.

      Gerry has told me that next month she will start putting me through more practical magical exercises. I do know how to do all of that—I can cast spells very well and I’ve even mastered quite a few Motion spells—but I’m rather thrilled to finally move on to something other than books and reports and essays.

      She asked me if I managed to talk to Gavin or Kentworthy about our discussion on friendships. I hadn’t, so I had to immediately go find Gavin to keep Gerry from pestering.

      It was a decidedly trickier conversation to initiate than I anticipated. I found Gavin and Kentworthy coming in from an evening stroll in the garden. I hadn’t really planned to ask them both, so I was suddenly very nervous and it must have shown on my face because they both immediately reacted with concern.

      “Everything all right?” Kentworthy said.

      “Oh, yes,” I said. “Just hoping you could settle a debate for me.”

      “Debate between you and who else?” Gavin said.

      “Gerry, of course. You don’t think I’d be debating with Mr. Standish, do you?”

      Kentworthy smirked and led us both to a sitting room. “All right then, Sebastian,” he said as soon as he and Gavin were settled. “Tell us.”

      It’s all well and good to brag about my exploits to Gerry via letter, Bartleby, but trying to explain that in conversation was very awkward. I cleared my throat several times, trying to come up with the right way to start.

      “Oh, for heaven’s sake,” Gavin said. “What on earth are you talking to Gerry about that you can’t bring up to us?”

      I huffed. “Well, you see, it’s like this. I was describing some…er…intimate experiences I’ve had at Oxford to her…”

      Gavin rolled his eyes and Kentworthy looked like he was trying not to laugh.

      “Highly inappropriate, of course,” Gavin said. “But go on.”

      “And I was telling her about this fellow, Warrow. Friend of mine. Devilishly good looking, you know. He was always a marvelously good bedmate, and I was telling Gerry about how he would always…erm…tease me, you know?”

      Gavin’s brow furrowed. “Tease you?”

      “Yes, you know. How friends tease each other. Joked about my knobby knees or would make a cutting remark about my performance or something.”

      “He did this in bed?” Gavin said, looking mildly horrified.

      “Yes,” I said, a little exasperated by his reaction. “And Gerry said that friends don’t do that sort of thing but, hang it all, everyone I know talks like that. At least to some extent. So I know it isn’t all that peculiar. I’ve been explaining to Gerry that it’s just how blokes talk to each other. And she said she didn’t believe me.”

      I looked at them expectantly.

      Gavin let out a long breath. “I suppose I can’t give you much by way of comparison, Seb,” he said at last. “I didn’t experience any intimacy before marriage. And I did not have a great many friends at university. However, I can tell you that of the few I did have, none of them were particularly cutting.”

      “Never?” I said incredulously.

      He shrugged. “Not really. Although, I kept to myself mostly. So it’s possible I’m not the right person to ask. Charles?”

      Kentworthy gave me a measured look. Finally, he said, “Did you enjoy the way he spoke to you?”

      I shifted in my seat. “What do you mean?”

      “Did it make the experience more pleasurable to you?”

      “Er…no, but I always assumed that was just his way.”

      “Well, like you, Sebastian, I did experience a great deal of intimacy while at university. I confess I had multiple partners before meeting your brother. But never,” he went on, “have I had someone insult me while I was in bed with them. Regardless of gender, that is something none of my partners did. And if a friend were to do so, I wouldn’t count them as such.”

      “Oh,” I said. “Not even just…you know…good-natured teasing?”

      “Never,” he said in a gentle tone. “There are, of course, particular tastes to that type of thing. So under different circumstances, it wouldn’t be an issue. But if you did not enjoy it and if you did not agree to being treated in such a way, his behavior was grossly inappropriate.”

      “Were all of your friends like that?” Gavin said.

      “No, not all of them,” I said in as airy a tone as I could muster. I felt incredibly foolish because they kept looking at me with these pitying and studious expressions. I couldn’t stand it, so I got up and said, “Well, thank you for settling the debate. I’ll go tell Gerry, shall I?”

      “Seb,” Gavin said.

      “Oh, do stop looking at me like that,” I said as I backed out of the room. “My friends have a different sense of humor than yours do, clearly. That’s all. I’m just irritated that Gerry was right. How is she always so infuriatingly perfect all the time?” I could tell Gavin was going to say something else, so I hurried out before he could.

      I must admit, Bartleby, I did not tell Gerry that she was right. Which is cowardly, I know. But I simply cannot stand having yet another person looking at me in that sad way.

      
        
        27 June 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      Went to the village with Kentworthy today. He said I was wearing out my green coat and the elbows were looking thin. So he took me to a tailor to get fitted for a new one. I did not have high hopes for the venture since Tutting-on-Cress is so very small. But Kentworthy assured me he has found the quality to be very satisfactory.

      I was rather surprised that he should put forth the expense. After all, I’m still Father’s responsibility, technically. I said as much to him when we were walking back home and he said he didn’t have any younger siblings of his own and that he adores spoiling people.

      “Oh, really?” I said, “And you consider a rigorous schooling regimen to be spoiling a person?”

      “Not all that rigorous, I think,” he said. “You don’t have a tutor, after all.”

      I huffed rather than say anything that would encourage him along that line of thought.

      He smiled as if he knew exactly what I was thinking. “How are you getting on, Sebastian? Truly?”

      I shrugged. “Well, enough, I suppose.”

      “Not bored anymore, I hope?”

      “God, no,” I said hurriedly.

      He smirked. “Glad to hear it.” He paused. “Do you want to talk about our conversation last night?”

      “Decidedly not,” I said. “I’m just glad Gerry will stop harping on about it now.”

      “Well, if you change your mind, do let me know. As Gavin said last night, he has less experience than you do, even. If you would like advice on anything you cannot go to Gavin or Gerry for, please know you can always come to me.”

      I stuffed my hands in my pockets and kicked at a pebble. “Thank you.” We walked in silence for a few minutes. “For what it’s worth,” I said. “No one calls me Sebastian except my parents and John.”

      “Noted,” he said. “And I do not expect family to call me Kentworthy.”

      I was startled into looking up at him.

      “Don’t look so surprised,” he said, chuckling. “I’ve always wanted a younger brother and I quite like your company when you aren’t being a rascal.”

      I grinned. “No one ever believes me when I tell them I’m charming.”

      He laughed outright at that.

      So I probably ought to refer to him as Charles here rather than Kentworthy, or else I’ll get it wrong when I talk to him. I suppose I have three older brothers now. Is that a good thing, I wonder?

      
        
        28 June 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      Lord Finlington came by again today and, to my complete shock, was here to see me.

      He met me in the sitting room and was very polite and chattery, as per usual. He must have seen the confusion on my face because he cut right to the point.

      “You may have heard, darling,” he said, “that I am in need of an assistant.”

      I nodded. “I believe you said you were putting in an advertisement.”

      “Excellent,” he said. “You do pay attention. How marvelous. As it happens, I did not put in an advertisement after all. I have been discussing the matter with your family, you see, and Gerry suggested you might be a good solution, at least for the time being.”

      “Me? As a gentleman’s assistant?”

      He smiled. “Well, m’dear, it is really more along the lines of a spellcaster’s assistant.”

      “Oh,” I said. I had no idea Finlington was the sort of spellcaster who required an assistant. It was a remarkable revelation for I found I was rather curious about the position.

      He continued, “I know you are not staying here permanently, so it will only be until you leave. Assuming you wish to do it, that is. Last year, I employed a young woman named Nell Birks while I was still living in London. I had never had an assistant before and I found her to be invaluable. The work is not too difficult. You will primarily be helping me prepare my workspace and clean it up when I’m done. You have different education and experience than Nell did, so I might change some of the tasks accordingly. Does it sound like something that would appeal to you?”

      “It does, but I’m not sure I’d be allowed to,” I ventured. “I am meant to stay at the house, you know.”

      He laughed. “Yes, m’dear. I am aware. However, Charlie and Gavin are supportive of this idea.”

      “Really?” I said, sitting a little straighter.

      “There will be some rules, of course,” he went on. “You would be expected to travel straight between your house and mine, and there may be some alterations to your daily schedule to accommodate it. As I understand it, you are here so that you might learn responsibility. Working for me would provide that. And,” he added, “there would of course be some compensation for your work. I shall pay you wages. Gerry and I are considering the possibility of splitting your magic lessons between the two of us, should you accept.”

      “You want to teach me magic?”

      “Well,” he replied with a smile. “Between you and me, m’dear, that little trap spell you placed in the servants’ quarters was quite the clever invention. I should like to see you put your talents to better use, of course, than frightening the poor maids. How else to ensure that than to teach you m’self?”

      I was a little stunned. “Oh,” I said. “Well, if it really is all right. I think I should like that.”

      “Excellent,” he said, clapping his hands. “You will start tomorrow. Charlie will work out your new schedule. I’m sure we shall get along famously, darling.”

      Then he left to go talk to Charles.

      It would appear I am now a man of employment, Bartleby.

      
        
        29 June 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      My new schedule is as follows:

      I wake up early to ride with Charles—that is still on.

      Then, breakfast, my studies, lunch.

      After lunch, I walk to Finlington’s house, work with him through tea, and walk home.

      Then I have my contemplation time followed by dinner.

      My leisure time has now been moved to after dinner and I am no longer required to socialize with everyone unless I wish to.

      
        
        30 June 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      Working for Finlington is a unique experience. First off, he insists I call him Bertie. I suppose I am addressing everyone by their first names now, except for Standish. My work with him is mostly mundane, moving furniture when he has to do particularly large spells and that kind of thing. He asked me how comfortable I was with taking notes and I assured him I was very comfortable. I prepare the space for him, he sets up the spell, performs the casting, he makes observations as I take down the notes, and then I clean it all up for him.

      It shouldn’t be fun, Bartleby. I daresay I shall hate it eventually, but it is fascinating stuff. The man can do magic I’ve never even seen before. Most remarkable. I am now definitely looking forward to the prospect of having him teach me. Although no one has explained how that will work out yet.

      
        
        1 July 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      Am exhausted. Riding early in the morning and walking to and from Bertie’s house every day is far more activity than I am accustomed to. Not to mention the fact that my work as his assistant is often fairly physical in terms of moving and cleaning things. I am on my feet quite a bit now.

      Wrote simply gobs of notes for Bertie today. Hand cramping up. Cannot write anymore.

      
        
        2 July 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      Bertie saw me flicking my hand today to ease the cramping I was still getting when I wrote—don’t forget, I still have to study and write reports and all sorts of things in the mornings—and he showed me how to make a balm to soak my hand in. Worked a treat, I can tell you.

      Also learned that he is apparently being considered for the position of Royal Spellcaster to the Crown. Or maybe he’s considering the position. Mighty lofty stuff. I asked him if it meant he would go back to London, and he smiled and said, “I daresay I shall have to go there occasionally. I rather like the idea of spending some amount of time here and there, for I do enjoy both places exceedingly. As I’m sure you understand, darling, nearly all the people I love most are here now, so I’m not sure London holds quite the same appeal as it used to.”

      I did not know what to say to that. I should also note that he did not promise to take me with him if he went to London, which is a shame, for I dearly want to go.

      

      
        
        3 July 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      I have been wondering whether Gavin is really checking to see if I’m writing in this thing. But, I have discovered, he truly is. I walked into the library this evening for my contemplation period and he was flipping through the pages to see that they were all written in. He was going far too fast to actually read any of it so I’m glad to know he really did mean it when he said he wasn’t reading my entries. He didn’t seem embarrassed at being caught at it. He simply said, “You’re doing very well, Seb. I’m proud of you.” Then he walked out.

      I can’t stop thinking about it, really. I’m not sure Gavin’s ever said he’s proud of me. I’m not sure anyone has ever been proud of me.

      
        
        4 July 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      Not in a particularly fine mood today, I’m afraid. Finally got a response to one of the letters I sent over a fortnight ago. I received it while I was in the library doing my studies. It was from Parks. All he really had to say was that I must have simply oodles of coin now since I’m sitting around cooling my heels in the country. So could I possibly spot him for a bit of a gaming debt he ran up? I was so angry he had taken this long to respond and didn’t even ask how I was that I balled up the letter, tossed it on the floor, and left the library at once.

      I paced around the garden, fuming for a good while. Is it really too much to ask for my friends to ask after my health? To miss me in the slightest? It was all perfectly galling.

      What made it worse was that Gavin came and found me while I was pacing about.

      “Are you all right?” he asked.

      I waved my hand to halt his incoming worries. “Just getting a bit of air, that’s all.”

      He frowned and said, “Does it have anything to do with the letter in the library?”

      I turned and looked at him. “You read it?”

      He huffed. “Don’t be an idiot. You know I’d never do that. But it was balled up and on the floor, so it must have irritated you. Do you want to talk about it?”

      “’Course not,” I said. “It was just a letter from my friend, Parks. He was being a prat, as usual. Got me in a miff.”

      He was looking unconvinced and, what is worse, very concerned. This put me in an even fouler mood, so I stepped past him and started back to the house. “I’ll go back to my studies then.”

      Thankfully, he did not follow me inside.

      
        
        5 July 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      I was thinking about it all last night and all day today. I have come to the horrifying conclusion that my friends are quite dreadful. It is a sobering thought. Some evidence, should you doubt my assessment:

      Forrester did help me with assignments when I asked, but she was an absolute pig about it. She would always tell me I was an idiot for not understanding things properly. While she did help me write several essays, she never did it for free. I had to pay her to do it one time, another time I had to play cupid for her to win Vincent Abernathy’s heart (little though she deserves him), and then there was the time she made me give up my favorite book in exchange. I don’t know why I gave the beastly woman so much respect. I daresay she didn’t deserve it.

      I’d always thought Warrow was rather sporting about the whole vomiting thing, but then I started thinking about how unkind he was afterward. He was awfully good in bed, but I still think he was the one who started that one rumor last year. I know he denied it, but truly. Making everyone believe I was in love with Professor Shelley is exactly the sort of rumor Warrow would start. I suppose I always accepted his ridiculing because he’s attractive enough to get any fellow he wants. It always seemed like such an honor to be in bed with him. Perhaps I was giving him more credit than he deserved, if Charles was telling the truth.

      And then Parks is the blasted person who talked me into all those pranks in the first place. I’m sure he wouldn’t have thought twice about the cruelty of it all, as I have. Do you know, even when it was his suggestion, I was always the one who was blamed. He was always abusing my character, which at the time seemed normal and simply what friends do. But since coming here, I’ve realized that nobody has spoken to me in the way any of my friends did, least of all the way Parks or Warrow did. I’m not sure why I put up with it.

      God, I’m the biggest clodpole that ever lived, aren’t I, Bartleby? No, don’t answer that.

      The worst of it is that Gavin has been saying for simply ages that my friends are terrible. I hate that he was right about it. Maybe it isn’t an entirely bad thing that I was sent here after all. Of course I can never tell any of this to Gavin or Gerry. Or Charles. They’d all tell me I was utterly daft. And I daresay they’d be right. What a humbling revelation it is. I’m not at all pleased about it, I need hardly tell you.

      
        
        6 July 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      I regret to inform you that the plan to seduce Standish is most decidedly and unequivocally put to rest. He is not exactly a single gentleman after all. I walked to Bertie’s house today for my usual work and found him having tea with Standish. They were sitting on the same sofa and—well, I don’t know how to describe it, really. For they weren’t even touching. But they were looking at each other with such obvious affection that I felt a pang at the sight.

      Bertie noticed me standing in the doorway, looking like a prize idiot, and greeted me. I was so embarrassed for having caught them in what was likely an intimate moment that I begged off for the afternoon, claiming I did not feel quite the thing.

      Bertie was all solicitous and they both looked worried, which made me feel like a complete rotter. But I managed to talk Bertie out of sending for his carriage and I walked home.

      So, not only was I completely idiotic about my friends, I was also completely idiotic about this. Thank God I never actually put forth much of an effort to seduce Standish. I shudder to think what a cake I’d make of myself. Now I can see why Gavin tried warning me off. I’m so bloody foolish.

      The worst part of all of this, Bartleby, is that I’ve come to the realization that I haven’t a single friend, really. Now I’m in the middle of nowhere and, even though I’m living with a number of people…well, I’m left a great deal to my own devices. Not that this is anything new, really. I mean to say, before I went to school, I was often left to my own devices too. Not that Gavin and Gerry didn’t try, of course. But it isn’t quite so fun being invited along out of pity rather than actual preference. I mean, I really don’t think I’ve ever had anyone prefer my company to anyone else’s. Certainly no one in my family does. Even in school, I was still tagging along with people, only instead of my siblings, it was Parks and everyone. At least then I had a purpose, you know? Granted, my purpose was to provide entertainment with pranks, but still there was a purpose to my being there.

      And what’s more, it would appear that Gerry is the only other person in the entire house who is unattached. She at least has friends, simply loads of them. God, I don’t think I’ve felt this alone since my first term at Oxford. No one would talk to me then either, except to tease me. It wasn’t until Parks dared me to pull a prank that anyone noticed me at all.

      Not sure how I shall face Standish at dinner. No one has noticed I’m home yet, but I daresay they’ll wonder why I left Bertie’s so quickly. Perhaps I shall complain of the headache. Gerry will probably fuss. What a nuisance it all is.

      
        
        7 July 1817

      

      

      Dear Bartleby,

      Well, I was right and there was a great deal of fussing. Gerry suggested I’ve been too much in the sun, and Charles was worried he had pushed me into too busy a schedule, and Gavin kept pestering me about Parks’s damn letter and asked if that was why I’ve been so off lately. In the end, Gerry sent me to bed with a remedy for the headache and said it would help me to sleep. I didn’t have the headache, of course, but I took the remedy anyway and slept until this morning. I got up earlier than my usual time and rang for my valet, got dressed, and went out riding before Charles had made it to the stables.

      And yes, I know it was perfectly rude to do such a thing, but I really needed time to think. The horse seemed a bit jumpy, probably because I’d taken her out so early, so I went back before I’d barely ridden a mile away from the house.

      Charles was waiting for me, as was Gavin, to my shock and embarrassment. Gavin was in his banyan as if he’d come down in a hurry, so I suspect Charles went and fetched him as soon as he realized I’d gone off alone. I was sure I was in for a great lecture, but when I dismounted I could see that neither of them was angry. They didn’t say a word as they led me to the library and closed the door. I was sat down on a settee, Gavin sat next to me, and Charles pulled up a chair across from me.

      Then Gavin said, “I don’t know what has you in such a fit of pique, Seb, but it has lasted for days now. For heaven’s sake, what is the matter?”

      “I don’t wish to talk about it.”

      “Is it the letter?”

      I sighed. “I do wish you would stop harping on about that.”

      “Bertie said you looked stricken when you showed up at his house,” Charles said. “Did something happen along the way?”
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